

KENNEWICK · PASCO · RICHLAND

# HOME RENTAL HOUSING PROGRAM COMPLIANCE & MONITORING MANUAL

#### **STAFF**

Kerwin Jensen, Community Development Director Email: <a href="mailto:kjensen@ci.richland.wa.us">kjensen@ci.richland.wa.us</a>
Toni Lehman, Block Grant Administrator Email: <a href="mailto:kjensen@ci.richland.wa.us">kjensen@ci.richland.wa.us</a>

Voice: (509)942-7580

Web: http://www.ci.richland.wa.us



#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

#### 1. CHAPTER 1-INTRODUCTION

- 1.1 Background
- 1.2 Key HOME Program Participants

# 2. CHAPTER 2-RESPONSIBILITIES

- 2.1 The City of Richland/Consortium
- 2.2 Owner/Developer
- 2.3 Management Agent
- 2.4 The Consortium HOME Administrator

# 3. CHAPTER 3-COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS

- 3.1 Management Plan
- 3.2 Affirmative Fair Housing Marketing Plan
- 3.3 Resident Selection Criteria
- 3.4 Citizenship Declaration and Verification
- 3.5 Collection of Race and Ethnicity Data
- 3.6 Fixed and Floating HOME Units
- 3.7 Income Restrictions
- 3.8 Rents
- 3.9 Resident Income Certification and Verification
- 3.10 Annual Income
- 3.11 Assets
- 3.12 Computing Total Household Income
- 3.13 Initial Income Certification Guidelines
- 3.14 Annual and Interim Income Recertification Requirements
- 3.15 Leases and Addendums
- 3.16 Annual Certification of Continuing Program Compliance
- 3.17 Utility Allowances
- 3.18 On-Site Physical Inspection and File Review
- 3.19 Annual Inspection by Owner
- 3.20 Lead-Based Paint Regulations
- 3.21 HOME Loan with Low Income Housing Tax Credits (LIHTC)
- 3.22 Noncompliance Issues
- 3.23 Compliance Accounting

#### 4. APPENDIX

# 5. ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

#### **PREFACE**

The purpose of this manual is to prescribe and outline the methods and procedures by which The Tri-Cities HOME Consortium (Members Cities, Kennewick, Pasco and Richland) will monitor and assess compliance with HOME Program requirements, for HOME funds allocation to rental properties throughout Kennewick, Pasco and Richland. Further, it is intended to be a training and reference guide to answer questions regarding the procedures, rules and regulations that govern HOME loan properties. This manual is intended only as a supplement to existing laws and rules, and is not a comprehensive guide to the HOME Program and all of its requirements. This manual was produced for use by The Consortium to be used in conjunction with the HOME Program Final Rule and Regulatory Agreements. Upon request, Richland, as Lead agency of the Consortium may provide the latest federal rule changes and advise participants of internal processing requirements; however, The City of Richland will not make authoritative interpretations of the federal law.

Compliance monitoring is administered by the Lead Agency (City of Richland), HOME Administrator with assistance from Member Cities. Questions regarding compliance issues should be directed to (509) 942-7580.

#### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 BACKGROUND

The HOME Program was created under Title II (the Home Investment Partnerships Act) of the National Affordable Housing Act of 1990. The HOME Program is not a categorical housing program requiring a specific housing activity. Instead, the HOME Program provides states and local government's flexibility to decide what kind of housing assistance is most appropriate to meet the housing needs of the local jurisdiction. Eligible activities include new construction, rehabilitation, acquisition of standard housing, assistance to homebuyers and tenant-based rental assistance.

The HOME Program affirms the federal government's commitment to provide decent, safe and affordable housing to all Americans, and to alleviate the problems of excessive rent burdens, homelessness and deteriorating housing stock in the nation. The United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) provides funding and guidelines to HOME Program participating jurisdictions (state and local governments) to design and tailor affordable housing strategies to address local needs and housing conditions. The program strives to meet both the short-term goal of increasing the supply and availability of affordable housing, and the long-term goal of building partnerships between state and local governments, and private and public organizations, and strengthening their capacity to meet the housing needs of low- and very low-income families.

# 1.2 <u>KEY HOME PROGRAM PARTICIPANTS</u>

**Participating Jurisdiction (PJ):** Consortium, member Cities, Kennewick, Pasco and Richland. Richland serves as Lead Agency for the Consortium and is designated by HUD to administer the HOME Program.

**Others:** Rental projects may also include property owners, for-profit developers, non-profit housing providers, redevelopment organizations or public housing authorities.

**Community Housing Development Organizations (CHDOs):** A CHDO is a private, nonprofit organization that meets certain legal, organizational and capacity qualifications prescribed in the HOME regulations. PJs evaluate the qualifications of an organization according to the regulations and certify it as a CHDO for purposes of the HOME Program.

PJs must match every dollar of HOME funds used (except for administrative costs) with 25 cents from non-federal sources, which may include but are not limited to cash contributions from non-federal sources, forbearance of fees, donated materials or labor, the value of donated property, and proceeds from bond financing. PJs must reserve at least 15 percent of their allocations to fund housing to be owned, developed or sponsored by experienced CHDOs. PJs must ensure that HOME-funded housing units remain affordable in the long term (20 years for new construction of rental housing; 5-15 years for construction of homeownership housing and housing rehabilitation, depending on the amount of HOME funds provided).

PJs have two years to commit funds (including CHDOs) and five years to expend funds. *This requirement has been suspended for 2016-2020 funds with the exception of CHDO.* 

#### **CHAPTER 2: RESPONSIBILITIES**

#### 2.1 CITY OF RICHLAND

Richland is responsible for administering the HOME Rental Housing Production Program, which provides financing to developers for the acquisition and rehabilitation and new construction of rental housing for low-income and very low-income households. To be considered, all sponsoring entities and proposals must meet the regulations prescribed in the HOME Investment Partnerships Program at 24 CFR Part 92. Richland accepts applications in response to a Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA) published at specific times during the year. Richland attempts to select applications consistent with the current Qualified Allocation Plan and within the limits of the funds available.

# 2.2 THE OWNER

In order to take advantage of the benefits provided under the HOME Program, the owner and property must meet certain requirements that will benefit low- and moderate-income families. These requirements are to:

- Manage the property in accordance with the HOME regulations and all additional requirements agreed to during the allocation process for the duration of the compliance period. This includes continuous compliance with regard to income and rent restrictions detailed in the initial application. Any violation of the requirements could result in default of a loan and suspension of further utilization of Consortium resources.
- 2. Ensure that once the property has been completed and all designated HOME units are rented, the property is properly administered. The Owner guarantees that all units are suitable for occupancy by meeting HQS requirements, local health, and safety and local and state building codes are taken into account, and that the on-site management team complies with all applicable rules, regulations and policies, which govern the property. This includes following policies and regulations pertaining to lead-based paint and asbestos disclosure and/or remediation where required.
- 3. Advise and receive Consortium approval of any material changes in ownership or management. No changes in management or ownership can be made without prior written approval of Consortium.
- 4. Ensure that a duly executed management certification and management entity profile is in force at all times. No changes to the management certification can be implemented without prior written approval of Consortium.
- 5. Certify that the property is being managed in accordance with all applicable federal, state and local fair housing laws.
- Provide Consortium the annual combined funding reporting of continuing program compliance and annual occupancy and rent report within 90 days of the end of the calendar year. See Exhibit A and Exhibit B (or equivalent) on the Consortium website.
- 7. Provide Consortium an annual operating budget and annual financial statement.
- 8. Provide Consortium with a narrative report that addresses any changes, issues or concerns that have arisen during the reporting period.
- 9. Assume liability for any instances of noncompliance and the correction of such deficiencies.

# 2.3 THE MANAGEMENT AGENT

The management agent is responsible for properly implementing HOME Program requirements at the property, and must be thoroughly familiar with all federal laws, rules or regulations governing certification and leasing procedures. The management agent provides all necessary and required information to the Consortium; this includes submission of various program compliance reports within specified time frames. Further, if the management agent determines that the property is not in compliance with HOME Program requirements, the HOME Administrator must be immediately notified in writing, directed to the attention of the HOME Administrator at 505 Swift Blvd., MS-19, Richland, WA 99352. A management plan is required to be in place at the onset of leasing activity and continually throughout the affordability period.

# 2.4 THE CONSORTIUM ADMINISTRATOR

The Consortium Administrator is responsible for compliance monitoring of properties that receive HOME Program funding. The Administrator performs the following functions:

- 1. Provide HOME Program compliance manuals and related materials
- 2. Receive, review and file all documentation and certifications required for compliance by owners, developers, and management agents
- 3. Initiate, schedule and conduct on-site physical, management and file reviews
- 4. Provide HOME Program compliance information for owners, developers and management agents
- 5. Notify owners when the property is found to be out of compliance with HUD or The Consortium requirements, including submission of reports or other requested information
- 6. Ensure that development certifications and other records will be retained for the applicable record retention period

#### **CHAPTER 3: COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS**

The Owner and property management must read and familiarize themselves with "Compliance in HOME Rental Projects: A Guide for Property Owners". This is a very important and useful resource. Owners must be responsible and will be held accountable for HOME compliance throughout the long-term affordability period.

https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/2395/compliance-in-home-rental-projects-a-guide-for-property-owners/

# 3.1 MANAGEMENT PLAN

The foundation of any successful residential property is a sound management plan. In preparing the management plan, it is important for the owner to consider potential problems that may arise during initial leasing and during operation of the property. The development of this plan should be a cooperative effort between the owner and property manager, where applicable. The management plan must ensure compliance with applicable state and federal laws. A copy of the management plan must be submitted to the Consortium with the initial rental development application, and the plan should be updated whenever an important element changes. A copy of updated plans must be provided to the HOME Administrator.

# 3.2 AFFIRMATIVE FAIR HOUSING MARKETING PLAN

A current affirmative fair housing marketing plan must be established, followed and made readily available for review by the Consortium staff. The HOME Program requires affirmative marketing efforts for all properties of five or more units (24 CFR 92.351). Affirmative marketing steps consist of actions to provide information and otherwise attract eligible persons in the housing market area to the property without regard to race, color, national origin, sex, religion, familial status or disability. Owners (or management agents) must prepare and submit for approval by the Consortium an Affirmative Fair Housing Marketing Plan (HUD Form 935.2.), or provide to the Consortium a plan that has been approved by HUD. The plan must be reviewed and updated every five years at a minimum. If it is determined that the information contained in the plan has not changed in the last five years, documentation indicating "No Change" should be maintained with the most recently approved plan and presented to The Consortium staff upon request. Fair housing posters must be posted in conspicuous places (i.e., anywhere management meets with the public) within the property for public viewing. Non-discriminatory advertisements, statements and notices should be used. Discriminatory words, phrases, photographs, symbols or forms that convey that rental units are available or not available to a particular group of person because of race, color, religion, sex, handicap, familial status or national origin must not be used. All advertisements and office or property signs must reflect the Equal Housing Opportunity slogan or logo, which can be accessed at:

https://www.hud.gov/library/bookshelf11/hudgraphics/fheologo

# 3.3 RESIDENT SELECTION CRITERIA

(Ref. HUD-Compliance in HOME Rental Projects-Property Owner Guide [Chap. 1])

Resident selection criteria must be properly established and maintained in accordance with the provisions of HUD 4350.3 REV-1 Chapter 4, and readily available for review by The Consortium. An owner of rental housing assisted with HOME Program funds must adopt written resident selection policies and criteria that are applied consistently and:

- 1. Are consistent with the purpose of providing housing for very low-income and low-income families.
- 2. Are reasonably related to program eligibility and the applicants' ability to perform the obligations of the lease, including:
  - a. maximum income limits
  - b. ability to pay rent
  - c. ability to comply with lease terms
  - d. meet property specific requirements
  - e. occupancy standards.
- 3. Provide for the selection of residents from a written waiting list in chronological order of application receipt, observing any preferences that may be established.
- 4. Follow a consistent method of accepting and processing applications.
- 5. Provide that all applications received are date and time stamped.
- 6. Provide for prompt, written notification to any rejected applicant, including the reason for rejection.
- 7. Provide that any preferences observed at the property, and the methodology used to implement such preferences, shall be clearly stated in the management plan.

- 8. Provide in accordance with Section 504 (ADA), that existing residents who would benefit from a vacated unit's accessibility features be offered the vacated unit.
- 9. Provide for Citizenship verification in accordance with 24 CFR Part 5.
- 10. Provide Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity Housing (FHEO).

# 3.4 CITIZENSHIP DECLARATION AND VERIFICATION

Section 4.14 (C): US Citizen Status

The IRS does not currently have a regulation for U.S. citizenship and has directed owners to refer to HUD policies for guidance. Section 214 of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1980, as amended, prohibits the Secretary of HUD from making financial assistance available to persons other than U.S. citizens, nationals, or certain categories of eligible non-citizens in certain covered HUD programs. Notice H95-95 issued by HUD provides the procedures for implementing the requirements of Section 214 and is available at: <a href="https://www.hud.gov/sites/documents/95-6FHEO.TXT">https://www.hud.gov/sites/documents/95-6FHEO.TXT</a>

The resident file contains a completed HUD Occupancy Handbook 4350.3 REV.1
 Exhibit 3-4: The Family Summary Sheet, Exhibit 3-5 Declaration Format form and Exhibit 3-6 Verification consent Form for all applicants prior to the initial move in and at recertification for existing residents. These forms are only required to be completed once for each household member unless the alien status for any household member changes.

Sample documents are located on the HUD web site at the following addresses:

https://www.hud.gov/sites/documents/DOC\_35685.PDF https://www.hud.gov/sites/documents/43503E3-5HSGH.PDF https://www.hud.gov/sites/documents/DOC 35689.PDF

# 3.5 COLLECTION OF RACE AND ETHNICITY DATA

According to HUD Notice 03-23, issued on November 13, 2003, owners of property financed with HOME Program funds are required to maintain completed HUD-27061-H Race and Ethnic Data Reporting Forms in resident files. The form is to be completed at time of application or not later than at lease signing, and must be completed for each household member. Parents or guardians are to complete the form for children under the age of 18. The owner (or management agent) should complete the property name, project number, address of property, name of owner or management agent and the type of assistance program being utilized at the property (e.g., HOME Program). The household member is to complete the ethnic and racial categories, sign and date the form. **Do not complete this information for the household member.** If the household member refuses to complete the form, place a note in the file indicating such refusal. The information collected from the residents is to be reported to the Consortium through Exhibit B (or equivalent).

# 3.6 FIXED AND FLOATING HOME UNITS

According to 24 CFR 92.252 j, in a property containing HOME-assisted and other units, the PJ may designate fixed or floating HOME units at the time of project commitment. Fixed units remain the same throughout the period of affordability. Floating units are changed to maintain conformity with

the requirements of this section during the period of affordability so that the total number of housing units meeting the requirements of this section remains the same, and each substituted unit is comparable in terms of size, features and number of bedrooms to the originally designated HOME-assisted units. NOTE: In a property where 100% of the units have been financed with HOME Program funds, the HOME units are considered to be fixed.

# 3.7 INCOME RESTRICTIONS

HUD publishes the Area Median Income (AMI) information for the Tri-Cities on an annual basis. Each year, when the new published HUD median income limits are available, The City of Richland places the new annual income limits and corresponding rent limits on our website at <a href="https://www.ci.richland.wa.us.">www.ci.richland.wa.us.</a>. When determining eligibility, the HOME Program income limits in effect on the date the resident moves in must be used.

IMPORTANT NOTE: It is the owner's (or management agents) responsibility to obtain the limits as they are published by HUD. HOME Program Annual Rent Approval form must be submitted within 30 days of the release of the new HOME Rent Limits.

NOTE: HOME-assisted units must follow the HOME Program rent and income limits.

- 1. HOME Program requirements for rent and occupancy must be met at property lease-up and throughout the affordability period. It is the responsibility of the owner and management agent to be aware of and comply with the income restrictions for the property. Income restrictions specific to the property are located in the Regulatory Agreement. Ninety (90) percent of HOME rental and TBRA households must have incomes at or below sixty (60) percent AMI at initial rent up of property. For properties with five or more HOME-assisted units, at least 20% of the households must have gross incomes at or below 50% of the area median income.
- 2. Properties must maintain the required number of units at each designated income restriction level. For example, if a resident initially certified at the 50% income limit exceeds the 50% income limit at a subsequent recertification, the owner or management agent must verify that there is still the required number of units in the property at the 50% income limit. If not, the next unit must be rented to a household that qualifies at 50% of area median income in order to regain the required number of income-restricted units.
- 3. Individuals applying to live in HOME-assisted units should be advised of the maximum income limits at the initial visit to the property. The owner or management agent should explain that all anticipated income must be verified for all persons over the age of 18 who will occupy a unit, and these persons must be included on the application and income certification form prior to occupancy.
- 4. New applicants and existing residents should be advised of what happens when their income exceeds 80% of area median income. In the event a household's current annual income at recertification exceeds the designated eligibility limit for the unit, the unit continues to qualify as affordable housing so long as the owner fills the next available unit with an income-eligible household. However, once a household's income at recertification exceeds 80% of the area median income, the household is considered over-income by HOME Program standards and the amount of rent the resident must pay is the lesser of the amount required by State or local law or 30% of

their adjusted income. The property will still be in compliance provided the requirements of 24 CFR 92.252(i) are met. Residents of HOME-assisted units that have been allocated LIHTCs must pay the rent governed by Section 42 of the Internal Revenue Code. In properties where HOME-assisted units are designated as floating, residents who no longer qualify as low-income are not required to pay as rent an amount that exceeds the market rent for comparable, unassisted units in the neighborhood.

#### 3.8 RENTS

The HOME Program has two rent structures: High HOME Rents and Low HOME Rents. In both instances, the limit includes rent charged plus the utility allowance.

- 1. **High HOME Rents:** For properties with four units or fewer, the High HOME rents apply. The High HOME rent is the lesser of the Section 8 fair market rent or 30% of the adjusted income of a household whose annual income equals 60% of the area median income. HUD makes this determination annually.
- 2. Low HOME Rents: The HOME Program rules specify that if a property contains five or more HOME-assisted units, at least 20% of those units must be rented to families at or below 50% of the area median income. The rents charged to these residents must be at or below the Low HOME rents. The Low HOME rent is the lesser of the Section 8 fair market rent or 30% of the adjusted income of a household whose annual income equals 50% of the area median income. HUD makes this determination annually.
- 3. However, rents may not be charged in excess of those prescribed by HUD annually. Initial rents can be found in the regulatory documents for the property, which were executed at the time of loan closing.
- 4. Properties with outstanding non-compliance issues will not be approved for any funding requests (i.e., rent increase, management fee increase, reserve for replacement, residual receipts) until all non-compliance issues have been resolved. Rent increases cannot exceed the maximum amounts imposed by HUD. Increases in rents is subject to the provisions of outstanding leases and, the owner (or management agent) must provide residents not less than 30 days prior written notice before implementing an increase. In the event that the property receives federal project-based rental assistance for residents with incomes at or below 50% of area median income, the rent limits from the project-based rental assistance program can be used. In this instance, a copy of the current HUD- approved rent schedule must be provided to the Consortium and the rent increases must be approved by the Consortium prior to implementation.
- 5. In the event a household's income at recertification exceeds 80% of the area median income, the amount of rent the resident must pay is the lesser of the amount required by state or local law or 30% of their adjusted income. (see language in 3.7.4 above) and the HOME Administrator must be notified. However, residents of HOME-assisted units that have been allocated LIHTCs must pay the rent governed by Section 42.

# 3.9 RESIDENT INCOME CERTIFICATION AND VERIFICATION

The owner or management agent shall obtain for each prospective resident a Tenant Income

Certification (Exhibit D or equivalent) and verification of income prior to admission to the property and annually thereafter. HUD 50058/50059 and RD 1944-A can be used in place of the Tenant Income Certification after initial certification. **NOTE: Exhibit D (or equivalent) must be completed for all first-year residents.** 

The Consortium utilizes the Part 5 definition for determining annual income. This annual income definition is found at 24 CFR Part 5.609 and is used by a variety of federal programs including Section 8, public housing and the LIHTC Program. This definition was formerly commonly referred to as the Section 8 definition. Annual Income is defined as the gross amount of income of all adult household members that is anticipated to be received during the coming 12-month period (for additional information on determining income eligibility. The owner or management agent must obtain third-party verification of income sources of all adult household members age 18 or older, as well as benefits paid on behalf of minors living in the household. **NOTE: Unlike the LIHTC program, properties funded with HOME Program funds are required to third party verify household assets of any amount.** The income certification and verifications must be maintained in the resident file and be readily available for review by the Consortium.

# 3.10 ANNUAL INCOME

It is strongly recommended to use the CPD Income Eligibility Calculator to compute household income and assets, this tool can be found at:

https://www.hudexchange.info/incomecalculator/

# [Ref. HUD Handbook 4350.3 Rev. 1, Change 2, Chapter 5]

Annual Income is the gross income the household anticipates it will receive in the 12-month period following the effective date of certification of income.

"Some circumstances present more than the usual challenges to estimating *anticipated income*. In all instances, owners (or management agents) are expected to make a reasonable judgment as to the most reliable approach to estimating the amount of income a resident will receive during the certification year." HUD 4350.3: 5-5 (A:1, 2; B, C)

The general rule is if a source of income is not specifically excluded as income (See Income Exclusions Exhibit 5-1 of the 4350.3 HUD Handbook), it should be included as income:

- 1. See HUD Handbook 4350.3 Rev 1, Chapter 5 [Ex. 5-1] for specific details regarding income inclusions.
  - a. Calculation Methodologies to Use in Determining Annual Income To annualize full-time employment, multiply the following:

Hourly wages by 2,080 hours for full-time employment with no overtime

Weekly wages by 52

Biweekly wages by 26

Semi-monthly wages by 24

Monthly wages by 12

b. To annualize income from other than full-time employment, multiply periodic amounts (hourly, biweekly, monthly, etc.) by the number of

periods (hours, weeks, and months) the household member expects to work.

Example 1: \$5 per hour x 25 hours per week x 52 weeks = \$6,500

Example 2: \$130 per week x 52 weeks = \$6,760

- c. Use an annual wage without additional calculations. Example: If a school teacher earns an annual salary of \$22,000, the \$22,000 should be used as the annual salary, regardless of whether the teacher is paid over a 9- or 12-month period. No interim certification is done at the end of the school year to reduce the household's income.
  - d. Use anticipated employment and current circumstances to determine projected income, unless verification forms indicate that an imminent change will occur.

Example of Anticipated Increase in Hourly Rate:

The employment verification indicates that as of April 1, 2000, the applicant's current hourly rate is \$8.00 per hour. It also indicates that on May 15, the applicant's income will increase to \$8.50 per hour. The applicant works 40 hours per week. You would make the following calculations:

40 hours per week x 52 weeks = 2080 hours April 1 through May 16 = 6 weeks 6 weeks x 40 hours = 240 hours 2.080 hours - 240 hours = 1.840 hours

Annual Income is calculated as follows:

240 hours x \$8.00 = \$1,920

1,840 hours x \$8.50 = \$15,640

Annual Income = \$17,560

- e. If a household indicates that income might not be received for the full 12 months (e.g., Unemployment insurance benefit is expected to terminate), the income should still be annualized.
- f. When an employer gives a range of hours as the number of hours worked, it is recommended that a conservative approach be taken and that the highest number in the range be used for income calculations. It is not recommended to use an average.

Example: John works 25 - 30 hours per week and makes \$8.25 per hour. To annualize his hours use:

30 hours x 52 weeks = 1,560 hours per year 1,560 hours x 8.25= \$12.870 annual income

- 2. See HUD Handbook 4350.3 Rev 1, Chap. 5 [Ex. 5-1 for specific details regarding income exclusions].
  - a. HUD Notice H 09-03, issued May 27, 2009, provides for the exclusion of deferred Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) disability benefits from annual income as a result of the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 (HERA).
    - b.In addition, all forms of student financial assistance (including

scholarships, grants, fellowships, educational entitlements, work study programs and financial aid packages) are excluded from annual income (except for students receiving Section 8 assistance). This is true whether the assistance is paid to the student or directly to the educational institution.

**Please note:** The HOME Program adopted the Section 8 student rules in the 2013 regulation revision (4350.3 3-13 and 3-40 to 3-41). A household that is eligible at move-in but later becomes student ineligible is treated as an over-income household with the resulting action depending on if the unit is fixed or floating HOME.

# **3.11 ASSETS**

Assets are items of value, other than necessary personal items. Income from assets is taken into consideration when determining eligibility of a household. (Ref. HUD Handbook 4350.3 Rev 1, Chapter 5 Ex. 5-2 for specific details regarding asset calculation.) Asset information (asset value and income from the asset) must be obtained at the time of application. Unlike the LIHTC Program, the HOME Program requires third party verification of all assets, even if the total value is less than \$5,000. Properties participating in the HOME Program must utilize Asset Certification form (Exhibit H) or equivalent, unless the applicant is certifying they have no assets.

#### 1. Assets Owned Jointly

If assets are owned by more than one person, prorate the assets according to their percentage of ownership. If no percentage is specified or provided by statute or local law, prorate the assets evenly among all owners.

2. Determining the Value of Assets

In determining income from assets, the owner or management agent must use the cash value of the assets (the amount the applicant (or resident) would receive if the assets were converted to cash). Cash value is the market value of the asset minus reasonable costs that were or would be incurred in selling or converting the asset to cash

- a. Expenses that may be deducted include the following:
  - i. Penalties for withdrawing funds before maturity;
  - ii. Broker/legal fees assessed to sell or convert the asset to cash:
  - iii. Settlement costs for real estate transactions; and/or
  - iv. Loans against the asset.
- b. Assets Converted to Trusts

A trust is generally considered a legal arrangement regulated by state law in which one party holds property for the benefit of another. A trust can contain cash or other liquid assets or real or personal property that could be turned into cash. Trust assets are typically transferred to the beneficiary upon the death of the grantor. There are two types of trusts: revocable and irrevocable.

#### Revocable Trusts

The grantor of a revocable trust can change this type of trust as often as he or she wishes and therefore has access to this asset at any time. Therefore, you include the cash value of any

revocable trust available to the household.

- ii. Irrevocable Trusts
- 1. This is a trust agreement that allows an individual to permanently transfer assets during his or her lifetime to someone else.
- 2. Trusts, which are not revocable by or under the control of any member of the household, are not considered assets.
- 3. Instead, the regulation requires that the actual income distributed to the applicant (or resident) from such a trust be counted when determining annual income. (As with all income, this is the gross amount received before taxes or other deductions.)
  - a. As long as the trust exists, any income distributed from the trust to the applicant (or resident) must be counted as income.
  - b. If there is no income distributed from the trust, do not count any income from the trust (e.g., income from the trust that is reinvested into the trust).
- 4. If an asset is disposed of for less than fair market value by being converted to an irrevocable trust, assuming that no consideration is received or the consideration, which is received, is less than fair market value, the owner or management agent must count such an asset for a period of two years.
  - a. In addition, any actual income distributed from the irrevocable trust must also be counted as income under paragraph "3" above. Therefore, for a two-year period, the owner or management agent will consider this asset for the purpose of income computation in addition, count actual income distributed from the irrevocable trust to the applicant (or resident).
  - Following the two-year period, the owner or management agent will count only the actual income distributed from the trust to the applicant (or resident).
- 3. Actual and Imputed Income from Assets
  - a. If the net household assets are less than \$5,000, annual income must include the actual income from the assets.
  - b. If the net household assets exceed \$5,000, annual income must include the greater of the following:
    - 1. The actual income from the assets; or
    - 2. Imputed income from the assets. (Impute income by multiplying total net household assets by the passbook rate specified by HUD. As of 2/1/2016, Notice 2016-1, the rate is .06%).

#### 3.12 COMPUTING TOTAL HOUSEHOLD INCOME

After all income and asset information has been obtained and computed for a household, all sources of income are added together to derive the total household income. In order for the household to qualify for a HOME-assisted unit, the total household income must be less than or equal to the maximum allowable qualifying income in effect at the time of resident certification. If the total household income is greater than the maximum allowable qualifying income, the household cannot be approved for a HOME-assisted unit.

# 3.13 INITIAL INCOME CERTIFICATION GUIDELINES

Once all income and asset information has been obtained and computed, the management agent must prepare a Tenant Income Certification (TIC (Exhibit D)) or equivalent for each resident. The form is a legal document which, when fully executed, qualifies applicants to live in the HOME-assisted units in the property. The TIC must be executed along with the lease prior to move-in. **NOTE: Any changes to documentation must be initialed by all parties involved.** 

The following guidelines apply:

- 1. The owner or management agent should instruct the prospective resident(s) to sign the TIC exactly as their name(s) appear on the form.
- 2. The TIC must be executed on or prior to the date of move-in.
- 3. No one may live in a HOME-assisted unit in the property unless he or she is certified and under lease.
- 4. Upon receipt of all verifications, the owner or management agent should review all documentation and calculations, as necessary. If all requirements for eligibility are met, the applicant is qualified.

# 3.14 ANNUAL AND INTERIM INCOME RECERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS

On an annual basis, an income certification must be completed and documentation to support that certification must be retained for each household occupying a HOME-assisted unit. Upon receipt of all verifications, the owner or management agent must determine if the household is below 80% of the area median income limit. If a household's income at recertification exceeds 80% of the area median income, the household is considered over-income by HOME Program standards and the rent must be increased accordingly (see 3.7.4 above).

1. Recertification of Income

The HOME Administrator monitors recertification of income 365 days from the later of the following:

- a. The move-in date, or
- b. The date of the last certification.
- 2. Adding a New Member to an Existing Household

If a new adult member joins an existing household during the *initial* six months of residency, the household must re-qualify as if it is a new household qualifying for residency. If the new member will be added to the household, the following steps must be taken:

- The prospective resident (i.e., new household member) must complete an application for residency and verifications of income and assets must be completed;
- b. The prospective resident's (i.e., new household member's) income must be added to the current household's previously certified income. The combined

household income must be compared to the maximum allowable income limit in effect at the time of application for the initial household, based on actual (projected) household size.

# 3.15 LEASE ADDENDUM – PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS: LEASES AND ADDENDUMS

All residents must execute a lease for no less than one year, unless mutually agreed otherwise by the resident and owner or management agent. Leases executed for less than one year require a statement signed by the resident indicating that a one-year lease was offered but a shorter term was chosen. The lease and statement, as applicable, is to be maintained in the resident file and readily available for review the HOME Administrator. The lease must contain the security deposit amount, utility information, monthly rental amount, and signatures for all parties involved. The lease must comply with all applicable state and local laws, and should incorporate the drug-free lease addendum as originated by HUD.

The Consortium strongly recommends that leases for HOME-assisted units contain an addendum with specific provisions obligating residents to cooperate with the owner and/or management agent. These provisions should clearly set forth the resident's responsibilities to provide all information necessary to assess the household's eligibility to occupy the HOME-assisted unit.

# Minimum Lease Requirements

- 1. List legal names of parties to the agreement and all household members;
- 2. All household members over 18 years of age must sign the lease;
- 3. List description, including address of the unit being rented;
- List effective date lease begins (the date of move-in or resident takes possession);
- 5. List specific terms of the lease;
- List full unit rental amount:
- 7. List any additional optional charges with description (parking, pets, etc.);
- 8. List resident portion of lease;
- 9. List the acceptable use of the premises;
- 10. List the rights and obligations of the residents, including the following:
  - a. The resident's obligation to <u>certify annually to income</u> and consequences of not meeting program requirements;
  - b. The resident's obligation to <u>notify management of any changes</u> to household composition;
  - c. Any new household members are subject to eligibility requirements and **MUST** be certified prior to occupancy.

#### Initial HOME Program Lease Term

HOME-assisted units are subject to an initial lease term of no less than 12 full months, unless otherwise agreed by all parties. The 12-month requirement may include free rental periods or rental concessions of a month or less. Succeeding leases are not subject to a minimum lease term; however, there must be a lease term in effect (e.g., a month-to-month lease is acceptable but the requirements must be established in the lease). Addendum to Lease - HOME Provisions

must be executed at time of lease (Exhibit C) or equivalent.

#### Nonrenewal of Leases

24 CFR 92.253(b) prohibits HOME-assisted properties from including specific language in a lease. These protections are offered to residents in the event of the foreclosure or sale of the property. Thus, qualified residents may not be evicted or not allowed to renew a lease for other than "good" or "just cause". Owners and management agents are encouraged to consult a legal advisor for interpretation of the requirement. Owners are encouraged to consult their legal and property management advisors regarding development of each property's standard lease, taking into account applicable landlord-tenant laws, HOME Program requirements and any other governmental programs in effect at the property.

# **Bifurcation of Leases**

On March 7, 2013, The Office on Violence Against Women reauthorized The Violence Against Women Act (VAWA). Specific to the Low Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) and HOME programs, a key element of VAWA includes requiring public housing agencies (PHAs), assisted housing owners and managers to bifurcate leases of tenants residing in federally subsidized housing. This assists in evicting a tenant who engages in domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking without penalizing a victim of such criminal activity.

The VAWA 2013 reauthorization now provides that if the person removed as a result of bifurcation was the sole eligible tenant, remaining tenants must have the opportunity to establish their eligibility for the program, or, if not eligible, be given a reasonable amount of time to find new housing. Public housing agencies (PHAs) assisted housing owners and managers are required to attach the HUD-approved Lease Addendum, Form HUD-91067, which includes the VAWA provisions to each existing or new lease.

# 3.16 ANNUAL CERTIFICATION OF CONTINUING PROGRAM COMPLIANCE

In accordance with the Consortium HOME Program requirements, an Annual Certification of Continuing Program Compliance and Occupancy & Rent Report must be completed and submitted to the Consortium HOME Administrator within 45 days of the end of the fiscal year. (See Exhibits A and B)

#### 3.17 UTILITY ALLOWANCES

It is the responsibility of the owner to obtain accurate utility allowances for the Consortium's use in comparing HOME rents to the maximum program rent for the property. The utility allowance schedule should include all costs to be paid by the resident for utilities including heat, electricity, water, sewer, oil, gas or trash. Please note: Range, microwave and refrigerator are only included in the Utility Allowance amount if the resident supplies or leases the appliances. Utilities do not include telephone, cable and/or Internet (HR3221 Ruling).

Acceptable Source of Utility Allowance Reporting:

HOME Program Requirements require project specific utility allowances for each HOME project using the HUD Utility Schedule Model (HUSM), https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/husm/uam.html or

# https://www.huduser.gov/resources/UtilityModel/Utility Model-Ver13i 813.xlsm.

PHA estimates or other estimates that are not project specific are not acceptable.

- 1. The utility allowance must be updated on an annual basis.
- 2. The property owner must clearly identify, on the supporting documentation, the utility allowance calculated and provide evidence of each utility utilized for the property. (i.e., circling, underlining, highlighting, etc.)
- The Consortium requires a quarterly update. New utility allowances may be implemented on the effective date of the newly calculated data. If there is no change the same information must be submitted.
- 4. All utility allowance information must be available for review by property inspections or upon request by the Consortium.
- 5. To notify the Consortium of a change, all utility information must be submitted to the HOME Administrator.

Additional utility resources can be found at: https://www.huduser.gov/portal/resources/utilallowance.html

#### 3.18 ON-SITE PHYSICAL INSPECTION AND FILE REVIEWS

On-site physical inspection and audit of resident and related files are performed under the HOME Program requirements for rental housing according to the following schedule:

1-4 Units Every 3 years 5-25 Units Every 2 years 26+ Units Every year

The Consortium will provide a report summarizing the results of the review to the owner and management agent and will require a written response to the findings and a schedule for making corrections. In addition, the Consortium is to be notified immediately of any property-damage losses as a result of fire, vandalism, or weather.

#### 3.19 ANNUAL INSPECTION BY OWNERS

In addition to the on-site physical inspection and audit conducted by the Consortium, the owner shall perform unit inspections on at least an annual basis to determine whether the appliances and equipment in the unit are functioning properly and to assess whether a component needs to be repaired or replaced. This is also an opportunity to determine any damage to the units caused by the resident's abuse or negligence, and if so, make the necessary repairs and bill the resident for the cost of the repairs. Owners and/or management agents are strongly encouraged to immediately correct any deficiencies noted during the Consortium on-site physical inspection.

# 3.20 LEAD-BASED PAINT REGULATIONS

Lead-based paint regulations require that all occupants in units constructed before 1978 receive a disclosure notice and pamphlet describing lead-based paint hazards. The owner or management agent must keep a copy of the disclosure notice in each resident's file. The resident must sign this notice before the unit is occupied. The owner must incorporate ongoing lead-based paint maintenance activities into regular building operations as a preventative maintenance measure. For HOME-assisted properties, these include the following:

- 1. A visual inspection for lead-based paint annually and at unit turnover;
- 2. Repair of all unstable paint surfaces; and
- 3. Repair of encapsulated or enclosed areas that are damaged.

# 3.21 HOME LOAN WITH LIHTC

In the event a property has both tax credits and HOME Program funds, the most restrictive compliance requirements are applied to units containing both. See the Consortium & LIHTC Compliance Manual for further details.

# 3.22 NON-COMPLIANCE ISSUES

Non-compliance issues will be communicated to the owner and/or management agent in writing and must be corrected within the period stated by the Consortium. Failure to satisfactorily correct or resolve discrepancies may result in recapture of HOME Program funds, as well as non-consideration for and exclusion from participation in future the Consortium program opportunities. In addition, properties in non-compliance status, regardless of reason, will not be approved for rent increases, management fee increases, replacement reserve withdrawals, etc., until the non-compliance is corrected. Non-compliant properties that also contain tax credits will be reported to the IRS.

# 3.23 COMPLIANCE ACCOUNTING

The HOME Administrator promotes the financial health of participating properties by monitoring compliance of program requirements for the HOME-assisted and/or the Consortium fund balance properties. Reviews and approvals are performed annually for budgets and financial statements. Requests are processed for rent increases, replacement reserves and surplus/residual receipt fund distributions.

# **APPENDIX**

All forms may be accessed on the Consortium website at: (Equivalent forms may be used)

Exhibit A	Annual Certification of Continuing Program Compliance
Exhibit B	HOME Annual Occupancy & Rent Report
Exhibit C	Addendum to Lease – HOME Provisions
Exhibit D	HOME Unit - Tenant Income Certification
Exhibit E	Employment Verification
Exhibit F	Certification of Zero Income
Exhibit G	Non-Employment Affidavit
Exhibit H	Asset Certification
Exhibit I	Disclosure of Information on Lead-Based Paint
HUD 935.2	Affirmative Fair Housing Marketing Plan
HUD-27061-H	Race and Ethnic Data Reporting Form
HUD-91067	HUD Approved Lease Addendum

#### ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

The following resources may be helpful in maintaining compliance with the HOME Program:

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) website for the HOME Program <a href="https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/home/">https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/home/</a>

**HOME Program Rent Limits** 

https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/home/home-rent-limits/

**HOME Program Income Limits** 

https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/home/home-income-limits/

HUD-2009 HOME Rental PO Compliance in HOME Rental Projects: A Guide for Property Owners <a href="https://www.hud.gov/program\_offices/comm\_planning/affordablehousing/library/modelguides/200">https://www.hud.gov/program\_offices/comm\_planning/affordablehousing/library/modelguides/200</a> 9/2009homerentalpo

HUD Publication "Technical Guide for Determining Income and Allowances for the HOME Program" (HUD 1780-CPD)

https://www.hud.gov/program\_offices/comm\_planning/affordablehousing/library/modelguides/2005/1780

CPD Income Eligibility Calculator

https://www.hudexchange.info/incomecalculator/

HOME Program Final Rule 24 CFR 92

https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/home/home-final-rule/

HUD Handbook 4350.3 REV-1 (Change 2 and 3)

https://www.hud.gov/program offices/administration/hudclips/handbooks/hsgh/4350.3

NOTICE: H09-03 Exclusion of Deferred Department of Veterans Affairs Disability Benefits from Annual Income

http://www.mhdc.com/program compliance/documents/VA NOTICE 09-03HSGN.pdf

HUD Uniform Physical Condition Standards (UPCS) Training

https://www.hud.gov/program\_offices/public\_indian\_housing/reac/products/pass/insp-cert

HUD Housing Quality Standards (HQS)

https://www.hud.gov/program\_offices/public\_indian\_housing/programs/hcv/hqs

